II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

James Vinton Slater died intestate on January 30, 1962, owning three parcels of real estate located on Sigmon Fork of Tappers Creek, Poca District, Kanawha County. His wife, Mabel Florence Slater, and seven children survived him. Those parcels of real estate are described as: (1) one acre surface, more or less, and ½ interest in minerals; (2) 17.18 acres surface, more or less, and ½ interest in minerals; and (3) 37 acres, more or less, and ½ interest in minerals. Mabel Florence Slater died October 6, 1992. Accordingly, James Vinton Slater had left seven children as his heirs at law, those being Christine McConaha, Ethel Isabelle Rust, Janet Evene Burdette, Marvin Darrell Slater, Jesse Edward Slater, Roberta I. Kintz, and Elvin D. Slater, deceased. Samuel Webster Harrison contends that he is the sole heir at law of Elvin D. Slater, as his adopted son.¹

Christine McConaha, both individually and as administratrix of the estates of James Vinton Slater and Mabel Florence Slater, brought suit to partition the property in kind or by sale, and to recover rents for the use of the property by some of the individual interest holders for the benefit of the other interest holders. (Amended Complaint, OR at 1)

¹ Ethel Rust disputed the contention that Samuel Harrison was adopted by Elvin Slater in her filed objection. *See* May 12, 2004 Objection of Ethel Isabelle Rust to Recommendations of Special Commissioner (OR at 45); No proof of adoption was presented in the court below.

With respect to the use of the property, Christine McConaha testified that Jesse Edward Slater had not permitted her onto the property on several occasions when she was attempting to fulfill her duties as administratrix of her parents estates, that Jesse Edward Slater had placed "No trespassing" signs on the property, had fenced in a majority of the property, had cut and used the hay from the land, and that he was using the property to maintain his horses. (Transcript of Hearing held on 12/19 before Special Commissioner, pgs. 44-45, (OR at 54); Transcript of Hearing held 5/19/04 before Judge Stuckey, pgs. 91-92 (OR at 55)). She also testified that the areas around the houses that Jesse Edward Slater and Samuel Harrison lived in were the most valuable pieces of the property and were being used by them exclusively. (5/19/04 Hearing, at 85-86, 107-108, 117 (OR at 55)).

Jesse Edward Slater filed his Answer, claiming that three of the heirs had transferred their interests to Elvin Slater. (Answer of Jesse Edward Slater and Jesse Edward Slater, Jr., (OR at 14)) Jesse Edward Slater produced several "Bills of Sale," claiming that they represented transfers of property interests from his siblings Marvin Darrel Slater, Ethel Isabelle Slater Rust, and Janet Evans Slater Burdette to Elvin D. Slater. (Bills of Sale, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing Held on 12/19 Before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, OR at 43) These "Bills of Sale" were dated February 1982, October 1982, and October 1989, respectively. Moreover, Jesse Edward Slater claimed that he had a "contract" with Elvin Slater. The alleged contract required Jesse Edward Slater to build a house and workshop on the property, for which he would receive all of Elvin's interest, including the interests alleged to have been transferred to Elvin, in the land, excepting the house and two acres surrounding the house. Id. and see

Transcript of Hearing held on 05/12/04, pgs. 100-102, 148-151, OR at 54. The Answer prayed that those interests be conveyed to him upon completion of his work, pursuant to this contract with Elvin Slater, at the direction of Elvin's heir, Samuel Harrison. *Id.* No written "contract" between Elvin Slater and Jesse Edward Slater was ever produced. Samuel Harrison testified that he had no knowledge of such an agreement. (Transcript of Hearing held on 05/19/04, pg. 11 (OR at 55)).

With regard to the "Bills of Sale" and the "contract," significant testimony and evidence was presented.

None of the alleged "Bills of Sale" were recorded until after the institution of this action, i.e. after September 29, 1999. It is uncontested that Elvin Slater never recorded these "Bills of Sale" during his lifetime. The three interests represented in the "Bills of Sale" did not appear on the appraisal of Elvin's estate², which stated that Elvin died with the possession of an undivided one-seventh (1/7th) interest in the subject property. (Appraisement of Estate of Elvin D. Slater, Harrison Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing Held on 12/19 before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, OR at 36; Plaintiff's exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing held on 5/12/05, OR at 54) In 1986, Elvin wrote a letter to Christine McConaha explaining that his payments of money to his siblings were not intended to take their property interests. (Transcript of Hearing held on 12/19 before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, OR at 43; Transcript of Hearing held on 05/19/04, pg. 55, OR at 55)

With respect to the heirs whose interests were implicated by the "Bills of Sale," two of the heirs discussed the arrangement by which they believed that they were exchanging their forbearance from use of the property for money from Elvin and were

² Jesse Edward Slater was the fiduciary of Elvin Slater's estate.

not divesting themselves of title to their interests. Marvin Slater testified that his understanding of the "Bill of Sale" was that Elvin would give him \$7,000 to not build a house on the land as long as Elvin was alive and that his interest in the property would return to him when Elvin died. (Transcript of Hearing held 5/12/04 before Judge Stuckey, at 68-69, 73-74, 77, 79 (OR at 54)). Ethel Rust testified that Elvin gave her \$8,000 when she signed the "Bill of Sale," which she understood to mean that she could only use the land if she returned the money prior to his death, or, if he died, her interest would once again become available for her or her children's use. (Id. at 81-82, 87-88 (OR at 54)). Specifically, she testified that Elvin did not want a deed for her property interest. (Id. at 89-90 (OR at 54)). Janet Burdette testified that she received \$4000 from Elvin when she signed the "Bill of Sale," and that Elvin did not want a deed for that transaction. (Id. at 12, 14 (OR at 54)).

In addition, both Jesse Edward Slater and Samuel Harrison provided evidence concerning the disposition of these interests. As fiduciary of the estate of Elvin Slater, Jesse Edward Slater signed the probate papers of Elvin's estate prepared by attorney Page Hamrick III, which claimed that Elvin owned a one seventh (1/7th) interest in the subject property. (Appraisalment of Estate of Elvin D. Slater, Harrison Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing Held on 12/19 before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, OR at 36; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing held on 5/12/05, OR at 54). Jesse Edward Slater testified that he signed the oath of the fiduciary on that appraisalment on March 12, 1998. (Transcript of Hearing held on 5/12/04 at 123-125, (OR at 54)). Samuel Harrison also executed a Short Form Settlement Waiver, signed and notarized on April 30, 1999, waiving his rights to object to the settlement of Elvin's estate, by which he received a

1/7th interest in the subject property. (Short Form Settlement Waiver, Harrison Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing Held on 12/19 before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, OR at 36) Samuel Harrison also testified that he would have no basis to dispute the Appraiser's finding that Elvin Slater owned a one seventh (1/7th) interest in the property. (Transcript of Hearing held 5/19/05 at 26 (OR at 55)).

Also of interest regarding the "contract" referenced in Jesse Edward Slater's Answer was his testimony that the agreement for the construction of a house on the property with Elvin was to be paid for with all of Elvin's interest and the three interests referenced in the "Bills of Sale," excepting the house and the 2 surrounding acres (Transcript of Hearing held 5/12/05 at 101 (OR at 54)). Jesse Edward Slater testified that work on the house was completed in 1974 or 1975. (Transcript of Hearing held 5/12/05 at 101 (OR at 54)) However, the three "Bills of Sale" were not in existence until 1982, in two instances, and 1989, in one instance.

As an additional matter, a quitclaim deed from Samuel Harrison was produced which purported to transfer his interest to Jesse Edward Slater, while making a reservation of two acres of property unto Samuel Harrison around the house and workshop, in consideration for the services performed by Jesse Edward Slater. (Quitclaim deed, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Transcript of Hearing Held on 12/19 Before Special Commissioner with Exhibits, OR at 43). Although Samuel Harrison testified that Elvin never discussed such a contract with him during his lifetime, he executed the quitclaim deed on February 21, 2002, based on the claims of Jesse Edward Slater. (Transcript of Hearing held 5/19/04 before Judge Stuckey at 11, 27 (OR at 55)).

Interestingly, the quitclaim deed was executed some two and one-half years after the partition suit had been filed.

As stated above, on October 28, 2003, Judge Stucky entered an order referring the matter to Special Commissioner John Charnock. Mr. Charnock issued his report on March 3, 2004, finding that:

- No bill of sale was recorded until after the institution of this action.
- The bill of sale for Janet Burdette was not notarized and was therefore improperly recorded.
- The bills of sale were ineffective to transfer ownership. However, should the property be sold, those who received money should reimburse the estate of Elvin Slater.
- The quitclaim deed of Samuel Harrison is void and of no effect, as it attempts to reserve a portion of property subject to an undivided interest.
- The ownership at the time the complaint was filed has not changed, meaning seven undivided interests remain among the seven children.

(Report of John N. Charnock, Jr., Special Commissioner, OR at 29).

The circuit court held hearings on objections filed to the Special Commissioner's Report on May 12, 2004. As Christine McConaha testified, she instituted the action to protect the interests of the other heirs of the estate of James Slater. (Transcript of Hearing held 5/19/04 before Judge Stuckey at 83, 92, 106-107 (OR at 55)). During the hearings, the circuit court entertained arguments from defendants' counsel that the "Bills of Sale," despite being unrecorded and, in one case, not notarized, qualified as deeds, pursuant to WV Code § 36-3-4. (Transcript of Hearing Held 5/12/04 at 47-51, (OR at

54)). The circuit court erroneously held that the "Bills of Sale" were effective to transfer the property interests at issue, stating that two of the subject instruments had the attributes of a deed and could have been recorded, and the other instrument, while it could not be recorded, still had the attributes of a deed. The circuit court failed to make any finding that the "Bills of Sale" were delivered, an essential element to a valid transfer. Having made that mistake, the circuit court went on to err in various other ways. The court held that Jesse Edward Slater would receive the interests, pursuant to his "contract" with Elvin Slater. The court held that Jesse Edward Slater would receive a five-sevenths (5/7ths) interest in the property, excepting the reservation of Samuel Harrison in the two acres surrounding the house and workshop and that Samuel Harrison would receive a five-sevenths (5/7ths) interest in the two acres surrounding the house and workshop. (Transcript of Hearing Held 5/19/04 at 121-124, (OR at 55)). The court sought to partition the remaining interests while questioning Christine McConaha during the hearing.

The court offered to partition a ten-acre segment, which Mrs. McConaha felt may not have been of equal value to the other portions of the land, to satisfy her interest. (Id. at 114, 117 (OR at 55)). The court also suggested that, should McConaha request further surveys or appraisals to determine the value of the divided parcels, she would be required to pay those expenses if the ten acre portion was a fair distribution. (Id. at 124 (OR at 55)). Faced with those potential expenses and the rulings of the court concerning the "Bills of Sale" which extinguished interests of three of the heirs of James Vinton Slater, the "contract" between Jesse Edward Slater and Elvin Slater, and the effective reservation and transfer of five sevenths (5/7ths) interest of what she testified was one of the "most

valuable” pieces of the property to Samuel Harrison, she reluctantly agreed to take the ten acre portion as her share of the property. (Id. at 101-124, OR at 55)). The circuit court entered its Final Order on November 16, 2004.

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR RELIED UPON ON APPEAL AND THE MANNER IN WHICH IT WAS DECIDED BY THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

- A. The Circuit Court erred in recognizing the transfer of property interests where no deed was delivered, recognizing the transfer of a specific piece of the property when other parties held an undivided interest in the same, and failing to account between the co-tenants for the use by one of the whole, or more than his share, of the common property.**

If permitted to stand, the circuit court’s resolution of this partition suit would upset the very foundations of West Virginia property law.

As is more fully set forth below, the circuit court’s ruling was plain error. The circuit court’s errors included recognizing the transfer of property interests where no deed was delivered; recognizing the transfer of a specific piece of the property when other parties held an undivided interest in the same; and failing to account between the co-tenants for the use by one of the whole, or more than his share, of the common property. After making these rulings, the court determined that the property could be partitioned to the parties who had interests remaining after the court’s erroneous rulings.

Under West Virginia property law, real property can be conveyed only by deed or will. Delivery is an essential element to a deed’s validity. The circuit court failed to make a finding that the “Bills of Sale” were delivered. A preponderance of the evidence showed that, even if the “Bills of Sale” were considered deeds, despite their lack of formalities, there was no delivery as required by law. Further, no co-tenant has the right, as against his fellow co-tenants, to convey to a third person any specific or distinct

portion of the common estate. The quitclaim deed clearly reserved specific portions of the common estate and should have been found to be void and of no effect. Furthermore, the alleged contractual arrangement, or any other arrangement, that would convey a specific portion of the common estate without the approval of the other common tenants should have been void and of no effect. Additionally, when a co-tenant occupies and uses the whole, or more than his share, of the property for himself, he is liable to his co-tenants for a reasonable rent for it, considering the condition of the property when he took possession of it. For the reasons outlined herein, these rulings were plain errors that affected the Appellant's substantial rights and seriously affect the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON AND DISCUSSION OF LAW

The doctrine of plain error is applicable in civil cases where the case was tried before a judge without a jury and the parties, without objection, allowed the court to try the case on a totally erroneous legal theory that was dispositive of the outcome of the case to the substantial prejudice of the appealing party. Lowther v. Riggleman, 189 W. Va. 68, 489 S.E.2d 49 (1993). To trigger the application of the plain error doctrine, there must be: (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. Maples v. West Virginia Dept. of Commerce, 197 W. Va. 318, 475 S.E.2d 410 (1996), *citing* Syllabus Pt. 7, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995).

A. The circuit court erred by recognizing the “Bills of Sale” as effective transfers of real estate, where there was no delivery or acceptance.

Under West Virginia law, real property can be conveyed only by deed or will. W. Va. Code § 36-1-1. The circuit court’s determination that the “Bills of Sale” presented in this case were effective transfers was plain error. This determination affected the substantial rights of all of the parties to the case by denying them their rightful claims to portions of the common estate. Finally, to allow this error to stand would seriously affect the fairness, integrity and public reputation of judicial proceedings, as this would represent a drastic departure from well-settled property law.

1. Acceptance and delivery, which are premised on the intent of the grantor and grantee, are essential elements of a valid deed transfer and may be proved or disproved by the circumstances.

During the hearings, counsel for the defendant Jesse Edward Slater argued that W. Va. Code § 36-3-4 had abolished the necessity for deeds to conform with deed formalities, where the deed’s manifest intent was evident. Such an argument fails in this case, since the clear language of the statute requires that, in order for the instrument to be given effect, it must be “properly executed and **delivered.**” W. Va. Code § 36-3-4 (emphasis added). This Court held in Walls v. Click, 209 W.Va. 627, 634, 550 S.E.2d 605, 612 (2001), that “effective delivery must include (1) transfer of possession of a valid deed satisfying all required formalities, and (2) intent of the grantor to divest himself of title.

With regard to situations wherein a deed has been manually delivered to a grantee, this Court has held that:

To constitute legal delivery of a deed, the grantor must intend that it presently vest in the grantee the estate purportedly conveyed. **The handing of a deed to a**

grantee without that intent is not delivery. “The mere placing of a deed in the hands of the grantee does not necessarily constitute a delivery. The question is one of intention whether the deed was then intended by the parties to take effect according to its terms.” The intent of the grantor may be shown by circumstances. Among the circumstances admissible are “the subsequent possession of the premises” and **“the subsequent conduct of the parties.”**

(emphasis added; internal citations omitted) French v. Dillon, 120 W.Va. 268, 197 S.E. 725 (1938). In French, this Court considered evidence that three years had passed after the date of the alleged delivery without the deed being recorded as circumstantial evidence in its determination that, even if the deed was handed to the grantee, it was not intended as an immediate conveyance of title. *Id.* The ability to rebut a presumption of a delivery may be premised either on evidence showing nondelivery by the grantor or nonacceptance by the grantee. Downs v. Downs, 89 W.Va. 155, 108 S.E. 875 (1921).

2. **The Court either relied on the form of the “Bills of Sale” and did not find an effective delivery and acceptance or found such delivery and acceptance against the clear weight of the evidence when ruling that a transfer of property occurred.**

The Circuit Court ruled that the “Bills of Sale” had the attributes of deeds and in two of the three cases could have been recorded. Based on that determination, the court found that the three heirs had “conveyed” their interests. It is unclear from the Final Order and the court’s statements at the hearing whether this determination was based wholly on the form of the “Bills of Sale” or whether the court was finding an effective delivery and acceptance by making a finding of fact that the instrument “conveyed” their interests. If the former, the court erred by failing to consider clear evidence that delivery and acceptance did not occur. In that case, plain error applies. If the latter, the court erred by making such findings in light of the clear preponderance of the evidence against

such a finding. In such an event, this Court has held that it shall make such findings and render such judgments on the evidence as the trial court should have made and rendered. Walls, at 639, *quoting* Bluefield Supply Co. v. Frankel's Appliances, Inc., 149 W.Va. 622, 142 S.E.2d 898 (1965). A discussion of the evidence concerning the intent of the parties follows in section iii.

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