BRIEF OF APPELLEE SAMUEL WEBSTER HARRISON, JR.

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

Edward Slater in that certain house (including outbuildings consisting of garage, shop building, and red barn) and the two (2) surrounding acres. Elvin D. Slater lived and resided on the property for much of his life, along with his adopted son Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., who resided on the property on and off after his death.

19. Appellee/Defendant below Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., as the sole heir at law of Elvin D. Slater claimed an undivided interest in the real estate described above, but claims that the undivided interest had been reduced effectively by the agreement stated above to the 4/7 interest of Elvin D. Slater and 1/7 interest of Appellee Jesse Edward Slater in that certain house (including outbuildings consisting of garage, shop building, and red barn) and the two (2) surrounding acres. The Circuit Court found that Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr. owns the 4/7 interest of Elvin D. Slater and 1/7 interest of Jesse Edward Slater in that certain house (including outbuildings consisting of garage, shop building, and red barn) and the two (2) surrounding acres.

20. The Circuit Court found that the real estate described above consists of approximately 55.18 acres, more or less. The Circuit Court found that the real estate described above may be partitioned and divided in kind by acreage by survey by metes and bounds and need not be sold and the proceeds divided. The Circuit Court found that the real estate described above can be partitioned and divided in kind into parcels which are of equal value, regardless of their size or acreage, so that the owners of each interest will receive equal value from the partition and division in kind. The Circuit Court found that the real estate described above should be partitioned and divided in kind into the following parcels:

(1) One parcel of approximately 10 acres, more or less, which is generally located across the road dividing the tract of real estate described above, shall be conveyed to

Appellant/Plaintiff below Christine McConaha, as her interest in the real estate described above;

(2) One parcel of approximately 2 acres, more or less, which is generally described as the two acres surrounding that certain house (including outbuildings consisting of garage, shop building, and red barn), shall be conveyed to Appellee/Defendant below Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., as his interest in the real estate described above;

(3) One parcel, which is generally located as the flat field behind the parcel to be conveyed to Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., shall be conveyed to Defendant Roberta I. Kintz, as her interest in the real estate described above; and

(4) One parcel, being the remainder of the real estate described above, regardless of size, shall be conveyed to Defendant Jesse Edward Slater, as his interest in the real estate described above.

21. The parties testified that they understood the general boundaries of the various parcels. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 10, 16-20).
22. The Circuit Court found that this partition and division of the real estate described above will result in an equal division of the real estate between and among the owners of the various undivided interests in and to the real estate and that this partition and division and the various parcels themselves are equal in value, regardless of whether the various parcels are equal in size.
23. **The Circuit Court found that the Appellee/Plaintiff below Christine McConaha, Appellee/Defendant below Jesse Edward Slater and Appellee/Defendant below Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., accepted this partition and division in kind as fair and equal on the record at the hearing held before the Court.** (Emphasis supplied).

24. Plaintiff Christine McConaha testified at the hearing held in this matter. (Record p. 55, Transcript pp. 49-120).

She acknowledged the general area of the ten acres assigned to her and that it had been previously surveyed to contain ten plus acres. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 56). The surveyor was Keith Smith. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 65-66).

When asked on cross-examination by Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison Jr.,'s counsel, if selling the property would disrupt family relations, she stated: "I don't know whether it would or not." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 82).

Plaintiff Christine McConaha was questioned extensively by Judge Stucky about whether she would accept the ten acre parcel as her share of the entire property. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 103-120). When asked, "Do you consider that the ten acre property ... piece of property that you negotiated with previously as being a fair one-seventh of the total property, she replied: "I wouldn't argue over it, no." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 103-106). Judge Stucky continued with this line of questioning about whether the ten acres would be fair, and again she answered: "Yes, it seems so." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 107). And, "That acreage would be fine with me." The Court summarized, speaking of Christine McConaha's intended share: "She said that she would be happy with it, she'd be satisfied with that ten acres for her share." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 110). Then again, Plaintiff stated: "I'll take the ten acres." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 12e). The other parties were asked whether they agreed to Plaintiff's share and all agreed. Finally, the Court asked Plaintiff's counsel about the proposal, "Are we agreed". The reply: "Mr. Andrews. "I assume that we are. That's fair. I mean, as long as you're happy with that (looking at his client)." (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 125).

Plaintiff Christine McConaha did not testify or offer any evidence, document, or other witness at all about the alleged rents claimed to be owed to co-tenants by other co-tenants who were allegedly using the whole, or more than their fair share, of the common property. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 49-120). The entire record is devoid of any evidence or testimony about this issue.

Plaintiff Christine McConaha did not testify or offer any evidence, document, or other witness at all about the issue of partition in kind versus partition by sale. (Record p. 55, Transcript p. 49-120). The entire record is devoid of any evidence or testimony about this issue.

25. The Circuit Court found that Defendant Roberta I. Kintz failed to appear, defend, or otherwise respond to the Complaint and Counter-claim filed therein; that having failed to appear and failed to answer, and having made no defense, Defendant Kintz cannot now object to this partition and division in kind of the real estate described above and that this partition and division in kind is fair and results in an equal share to her for her undivided interest in the real estate described above. Roberta I. Kintz did not appeal any ruling adverse to her interest.
26. The Circuit Court found that the parties shall contract with a surveyor (with the surveyor who performed the boundary survey if that surveyor agrees) to plat the metes and bounds of the four parcels. The Court ordered each party to bear a proportionate share of the cost of the division survey, 1/7 by Plaintiff Christine McConaha, 1/7 by Defendant Roberta I. Kintz, 1/7 by Defendant Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., and 4/7 by Defendant Jesse Edward Slater.
27. The Circuit Court further found that however, certain parties made claims for shares upon which those parties did not ultimately prevail and those parties which made claims which are

not upheld in the Order shall bear their proportionate cost of the original boundary survey. The shares of expenses for payment or reimbursement for the cost of the original boundary survey shall be as follows: 1/7 by Plaintiff Christine McConaha, 1/7 by Defendant Roberta I. Kintz, 1/7 by Defendant Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr., 1/7 by Defendant Jesse Edward Slater, 1/7 by Defendant Janet Evene Slater Burdette, 1/7 by Defendant Marvin Darrel Slater, and 1/7 by Defendant Ethel Isabelle Rust. This finding was not appealed.

26. The Circuit Court ruled that after the four parcels are platted, Counsel for each party shall prepare an appropriate deed for their party.

Points and Authorities

- I. APPELLANT CHRISTINE McCONAHA HAS NO STANDING TO OBJECT TO THE CIRCUIT COURT FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON THE EFFECT OF THE BILLS OF SALE, AS THOSE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE NOT ADVERSE TO HER INTEREST. 12
- O'Neal v. Stimson*, 70 W.Va. 452, 74 S.E. 413 (1912).. 14
- II. APPELLANT CHRISTINE McCONAHA OFFERED NO EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER ON THE ISSUE ON THE ISSUE OF RENTS OWED TO CO-TENANTS AND FAILED TO CARRY HER BURDEN OF PROOF 14
- Loudin v. Cunningham*, 82 W. Va. 453, 96 S. E. 59 (1918). 16
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND AND DETERMINED THAT THE REAL ESTATE COULD BE PARTITIONED IN KIND AND SHOULD NOT BE SOLD; AND
 (1) THOSE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE ACCEPTED BY APPELLANT AT THE HEARING IN OPEN COURT ON THE RECORD BELOW;
 AND
 (2) APPELLANT OFFERED NO EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER ON THE ISSUE AND FAILED TO CARRY HER BURDEN OF PROOF 16

Cases

- Ark Land Co. v. Harper*, 215 W. Va. 331, 599 S.E. 2d 754, 2004 W. Va. LEXIS 24 (2004) . . 21
- Bland v. Bland*, 182 W. Va. 686, 391 S. E. 2d 376 (1990). 20
- Bracken v. Everett*, 95 W. Va. 550, 121 S.E. 713 (1924). 18, 19
- Brockman v. Hargrove*, 103 W. Va. 254, 137 S. E. 11 (1927). 19
- Croston v. Male*, 56 W. Va. 205, 49 S. E. 136, 107 Am. St. R. 918, 1918D L.R.A. 460n (1904)....

.....	18, 19, 19
<i>Garlow v. Murphy</i> , 111 W. Va. 611, 163 S.E. 436 (1932).....	18
<i>Hale v. Thacker</i> , 122 W. Va. 648, 12 S. E. 2d 524 (1940).....	19
<i>Herold v. Craig</i> , 59 W. Va. 353, 53 S. E. 466 (1906).....	19
<i>Loudin v. Cunningham</i> , 82 W. Va. 453, 96 S. E. 59 (1918).....	16, 19, 20
<i>Maxwell v. Stalnaker</i> , 142 W. Va. 555, 96 S.E.2D 907 (1957).....	19
<i>McDonald v. Bennett</i> , 108 W. Va. 665, 152 S. E. 533 (1930).....	20
<i>McKnown v. McKnown</i> , 93 W. Va. 689, 117 S. E. 557, 46 A. L. R. 352n (1923).....	20
<i>Murredu v. Murredu</i> , 160 W. Va. 610, 236 S.E. 2d 452 (1977), overruled on other grounds, <i>Patterson v. Patterson</i> , 167 W. Va. 1, 277 S.E.2d 709 (1981).....	18
<i>Morley v. Smith</i> , 93 W. Va. 682, 118 S.E. 135 (1923).....	18, 19
<i>Smith v. Greene</i> , 76 W. Va. 276, 85 S. E. 537 (1915).....	19
<i>Stalnaker v. Stalnaker</i> , 139 W. Va. 658, 80 S. E. 2d 878 (1954).....	19
<i>Starcher v. United Fuel Gas Co.</i> , 113 W. Va. 397, 168 S. E. 383 (1933).....	20
<i>Stillings v. Stillings</i> , 167 W. Va. 796, 280 S. E. 2d 689 (1981).....	19
<i>Wilkins v. Wilkins</i> , 175 W. Va. 787, 338 S. E. 2d 388 (1985).....	20

Statutes and Other Authorities

West Virginia Code § 37-4-1	17
West Virginia Code § 37-4-2	17
West Virginia Code § 37-4-3	18

Discussion of Law

Standard of Review

When a case is tried by a court in lieu of a jury, its findings will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it is against the plain and decided preponderance of the evidence, or wholly without evidence to support it. See 1B Michies Jurisprudence, "Appeal and Error", § 276, "Findings of Court", and the hundreds of cases cited there.

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. Rule 52(a), West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Supreme Court of Appeals cannot disturb a finding of fact made by a trial court unless it is clearly wrong. *Lewis v. Dils Motor Co.*, 148 W. Va. 515, 135 S.E.2d 597 (1964); *Maxey v. Maxey*, 195 W. Va. 158, 464 S.E.2d 800 (1995).

Issue 1, "Bills of Sale" Issue

- I. APPELLANT CHRISTINE McCONAHA HAS NO STANDING TO OBJECT TO THE CIRCUIT COURT FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON THE EFFECT OF THE BILLS OF SALE, AS THOSE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE NOT ADVERSE TO HER INTEREST

The first issue for discussion is whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that the several bills of sale conveyed the interest of the transferors to the transferees. While this issue is certainly interesting, the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Circuit Court are not adverse to the Appellant/Plaintiff Below Christine McConaha.

As background information, James Vinton Slater, Deceased, left seven children as his heirs at law, those being the Plaintiff Christine McConaha, and Defendants Ethel Isabelle Rust, Janet Evene Burdette, Marvin Darrell Slater, Jesse Edward Slater, Roberta I. Kintz, and Elvin D. Slater, Deceased. Defendant Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr. is the sole heir at law to of Elvin D. Slater, as his adopted son. The Circuit Court found that Plaintiff Christine McConaha inherited and owns a one/seventh (1/7) undivided interest in and to the real estate described above, as an heir at law of James Vinton Slater, Deceased. This is a finding which Appellant did not and could not contest. She was one of seven children, therefore, she inherited a 1/7 interest. She inherited NONE of the other 6/7. It is completely and totally irrelevant to her interest who owns the other 6/7 interest, whether one or seven. Likewise, she cannot complain that Jesse Edward Slater owns at least 1/7, as he, likewise, was one of the seven children. The Circuit Court found that Defendant Jesse Edward Slater inherited and owns a one/seventh (1/7) undivided interest in and to the real estate described above, as an heir at law of James Vinton Slater, Deceased. That much is clear and uncontestable.

Appellant is complaining that Jesse Edward Slater obtained three other 1/7ths (less the house property owned by Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr.,) by conveyances from three other heirs which she claims did not rise to the level of deeds. As to Appellant herself, one can only ask, SO

WHAT? She cannot complain how Jesse Edward Slater obtained the other interests from three other heirs, since those other three interests are not going to be hers in any event. The only persons who could have validly complained about those other interests are the persons who lost those interests.

The Circuit Court found that Defendant Ethel Isabelle Rust, Defendant Marvin Darrel Slater, and Defendant Janet Evene Slater Burdette each inherited a 1/7 interest in the real estate, as heirs at law of James Vinton Slater, Deceased, but conveyed those interests to Elvin D. Slater. Defendants Ethel Isabelle Rust, Janet Evene Burdette, and Marvin Darrell Slater did not appear in the civil action other than as witnesses, and did not plead or defend. None of those three defendants appealed any rulings adverse to their respective interests. Those are the persons who "lost" their 1/7 interest to Elvin D. Slater, and ultimately to Appellee Jesse Edward Slater, and Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr. Appellant has no interest in their 1/7ths, has no rights to their interests, and cannot complain if those three persons won or lost those interests. It does not affect the Appellant at all.

It is noted that Elvin D. Slater conveyed his interest to Appellee Jesse Edward Slater, except for a house which he built and devised to his adopted son, the Appellee Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr.

Those three individuals, the Defendants Ethel Isabelle Rust, Marvin Darrel Slater, and Janet Evene Slater Burdette, are the ONLY persons who had a valid interest in the issue involving the bills of sale, and who could complain and appeal the findings of the court below that their bills of sale, which each admitted signing and delivering for consideration, constituted deeds. All three of them recognized their prior act (and deed) of selling their interest and accepted the inevitable conclusion: they sold their interests many years ago and cannot now complain. None of those three persons appeared and defended the partition action. Not one of them filed any pleadings whatsoever (one sent an unserved letter), made any motions, or filed any objections: nothing, de nada, zero! None of those

three persons objected at the hearing, and none appealed the Final Order of the Circuit Court to the Supreme Court of Appeals. As to their 3/7 interests, the Final Order of the Circuit Court is final and binding in all respects. Appellant Christine McConaha does not represent any of those individuals, she makes no claim to their interests, she has no interest in their interests, and consequently, she has no right, title, interest, or standing to complain about what happened to their interests. She has only her 1/7 interest regardless of who owns those 3/7 interests, whether it is those three individuals or the Appellees Jesse Edward Slater and Samuel Webster Harrison, Jr.

In partition, if no injustice is done to other cotenants, an allotment may be made so as to render effective a conveyance by a cotenant purporting to be in severalty though operating when made to convey only his undivided interest. *O'Neal v. Stimson*, 70 W.Va. 452, 74 S.E. 413 (1912).

This issue must be simply be dismissed as moot. It was not appealed by those in interest, and Appellant Christine McConaha had no interest to appeal.

Issue II, The Issue of Rents Owed to Co-Tenants

II. APPELLANT CHRISTINE McCONAHA HAS NO STANDING TO OBJECT TO THE CIRCUIT COURT FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON THE ISSUE OF RENTS OWED TO CO-TENANTS, AS APPELLANT OFFERED NO EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER ON THE ISSUE AND FAILED TO CARRY HER BURDEN OF PROOF.

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